COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARK C. LEWINGTON, a Washington Resident; NOEL P. SHILLITO and LAURIE A. SHILLITO, Husband and Wife and Washington Residents; DANIEL P. OSTLUND and MARIE F. OSTLUND, Husband and Wife and Washington Residents; and ELIZABETH T. WIGHT, a Washington Resident,

Respondents,

v.

FRANK I. PARSONS and NANCY A. PARSONS, Husband and Wife and Washington Residents,

Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

FOSTER PEPPER PLLC

Samuel T. Bull, WSBA No. 34387 Adrian Urquhart Winder, WSBA No. 38071 1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3400 Seattle, Washington 98101-3299 Telephone: (206) 447-4400

Attorneys for Appellants Frank I. Parsons and Nancy A. Parsons

I. INTRODUCTION

Appellants Frank ("Iain") and Nancy Parsons (collectively, "the Parsons"¹) are homeowners residing in the West End of Tacoma. They purchased their home in the Narrowmoor Third Addition in March 2014, fulfilling their long-held dream to retire in that area. CP 229-30, 279-80.

The Narrowmoor Third Addition is governed by restrictive covenants written in 1947. CP 236-37. One of those covenants limits residences to "two stories in height." CP 236. When the Parsons purchased their home—a one-story house with a daylight basement—they did not contemplate that their basement might be considered a "story in height" under the covenant. CP 229-30, 280. Rather, they believed that "stories in height" meant above-ground floors. CP 230, 280. This belief was bolstered by the Parsons' pre-purchase tour of the Narrowmoor neighborhood, during which they saw several multi-story homes with basements. CP 230-31, 238-62, 280.

In fact, twenty-five years ago, this Court considered the meaning of the Narrowmoor Third Addition's "two stories in height" covenant and determined that there was "no support for a finding that the drafters intended a daylight basement to constitute a story." *Lester v. Willardsen*,

¹ Although the proper plural form is Parsonses, for ease of reference, "Parsons" is used throughout this briefing.

No. 12172-7-II, Unpublished Opinion at 4 (Aug. 23, 1990) (CP 348-53) (attached as App'x B). The *Lester* case was brought as a class action, in which every Narrowmoor Third Addition property owner received notice of the lawsuit and was either a member of the plaintiff class or opted out, declining to seek enforcement of the covenant. *See* CP 284-85, 315-36.

Prior to closing on their home, the Parsons spent considerable time with an architect and the City of Tacoma on plans to renovate the existing house to add a low-profile second story. CP 230, 280, 383. The Parsons paid particular attention to minimizing view impacts on neighboring properties. After incorporating a low-profile roof, the height of the new roofline is approximately 4.62 feet above the height of the old roof. CP 231, 383. Additionally, the vast majority of the addition is built directly over foundation, not over the existing basement. *See id*.

In the months prior to construction, the Parsons met with the plaintiffs in this case. CP 231-32, 280-82. The Parsons were open about their plans and provided their contact information in case of any questions. *Id.* After they began construction in July 2014, the Parsons received a letter in August from counsel for plaintiff Mark Lewington, threatening litigation for violation of the restrictive covenants. CP 194, 232, 282. By that time, construction was well underway, and the Parsons could not alter their building plans without incurring significant expense. CP 232, 282.

51441374 1 -2-

The Parsons also believed they were in compliance with the covenants. *Id.* This litigation followed. CP 1-6, 57-63.

The plaintiff neighbors moved for summary judgment on the meaning of "two stories in height" in the covenant and sought to enjoin construction of the Parsons' second story. CP 117-40. The Parsons asserted that their renovated home complies with the covenant. Not only does the express language of the covenant restrict only stories "in height" (not subterranean levels), but the Parsons' basement was not considered a "story" under the City of Tacoma Building Code in effect when the covenant was drafted. CP 219-26, 366-81, 383. The Parsons asserted several defenses, including collateral estoppel based on the *Lester* class action, acquiescence, and abandonment of the covenant. CP 213-18.

Despite plaintiffs' failure to prove they were entitled to judgment as a matter of law and despite this Court's *Lester* holding, the superior court found that the covenant is unambiguous that basements are a "story in height" under the covenant. CP 547-48; RP 28. Further, without any analysis of the factors for injunctive relief and without any consideration of alternate remedies, the superior court issued an injunction. CP 547-48; RP 28. The court did so even though the portion of the Parsons' home allegedly obstructing the plaintiffs' views is not built over the basement. *See, e.g.*, CP 231, 383, 553. The Parsons appeal. CP 554-57.

51441374.1 -3-

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The superior court erred in ruling on summary judgment that a "basement" is a "story in height" under the Narrowmoor Third Addition restrictive covenant.
- 2. The superior court erred in not barring the plaintiffs' claims under the doctrine of collateral estoppel based on the *Lester* litigation.
- 3. The superior court erred in not barring the claims of Ms. Wight and the Ostlunds under the doctrine of acquiescence, as their predecessors-in-interest opted out of the *Lester* class and declined to enforce the covenant. At minimum, there was a genuine issue of material fact as to this defense.
- 4. The superior court erred by not applying the defense of abandonment to bar all of the plaintiffs' claims. At minimum, there was a genuine issue of material fact as to this defense.
- 5. The superior court erred in granting summary judgment for the Shillitos because they do not live in Narrowmoor Third Addition and have no rights to enforce its restrictive covenants.
- 6. The superior court erred by granting injunctive relief to the plaintiffs on summary judgment without analyzing whether injunctive relief was appropriate under the facts.

51441374 1 -4-

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The primary objective in interpreting a restrictive covenant is to determine the drafter's intent. *Wilkinson v. Chiwawa Communities Ass'n*, 180 Wn.2d 241, 249, 327 P.3d 614 (2014). Here, the drafter restricted homes in the Narrowmoor Third Addition to "two stories in height." CP 236. Did the superior court err in ruling on summary judgment that a basement is a "story in height"? (Assignment of Error 1.)
- 2. The doctrine of collateral estoppel prevents relitigation of issues already determined by the courts and is intended to ensure finality in adjudications. *Christensen v. Grant County Hosp. Dist. No. 1*, 152 Wn.2d 299, 306, 96 P.3d 957 (2004). This Court already determined that "stories in height" under the Narrowmoor Third Addition covenant does not include basements. *Lester v. Willardsen*, No. 12172-7-II (Aug. 23, 1990) (App'x B). Did the superior court err in not applying collateral estoppel to bar plaintiffs' claims? (Assignment of Error 2.)
- 3. The doctrine of acquiescence bars plaintiffs who have failed to enforce a restrictive covenant against some offending properties from enforcing the same restriction against other property owners (in other words, selectively enforcing the covenant). *Tindolph v. Schoenfeld Bros.*, 157 Wash. 605, 289 P. 530 (1930). Plaintiff Wight and the Ostlunds' predecessor-in-interest received notice of the *Lester* lawsuit, opted out of

51441374.1 -5-

the class action to enforce the covenant, and then declined to pursue enforcement against the *Lester* defendants or any other property owners purportedly in violation of the covenant. CP 285, 328, 330, 332-36. Did the superior court err in ruling on summary judgment that acquiescence did not apply? (Assignment of Error 3.)

- 4. The doctrine of abandonment prevents enforcement of a covenant that has been "habitually and substantially violated so as to create an impression that it has been abandoned." *Sandy Point Improv. Co. v. Huber*, 26 Wn. App. 317, 319, 613 P.2d 160 (1980). The first homes one sees when entering the Narrowmoor neighborhood are two-story homes with daylight basements, as are several other houses located in Narrowmoor. CP 278. Did the superior court err in ruling on summary judgment that abandonment of the covenant did not apply? (Assignment of Error 4.)
- 5. Restrictive covenants that only permit enforcement by properties in the subdivision cannot be enforced by owners in adjoining plats, even if the plats have identical covenants. *Save Sea Lawn Acres Ass'n v. Mercer*, 140 Wn. App. 411, 415, 166 P.3d 770 (2007). The Shillitos do not own property in Narrowmoor Third Addition. CP 120. Did the superior court err by failing to dismiss the Shillitos' claims and by granting summary judgment in their favor? (Assignment of Error 5.)

51441374.1 -6-

6. Permanent injunctive relief based on a restrictive covenant requires satisfaction of the three-part test for injunctive relief and a balancing of the equities and relative hardships of the parties. *Doyle v. Lee*, 166 Wn. App. 397, 404, 272 P.3d 256 (2012); *Lenhoff v. Birch Bay Real Estate, Inc.*, 22 Wn. App. 70, 74-78, 587 P.2d 1087 (1978). The superior court did not analyze the three-part injunctive relief test or balance the equities in this case. RP 28; CP 547-48. Did the superior court err in granting permanent injunctive relief to the plaintiffs without conducting the required analysis for whether injunctive relief was appropriate in this case? (Assignment of Error 6.)

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Parties.

The Parsons begin with an overview of the parties to this litigation, as this information is relevant to the historical facts. A map showing the relative locations of the parties' properties is attached hereto as Appendix A (CP 264-65). The Puget Sound is west of the properties.

<u>Iain and Nancy Parsons (Defendants-Appellants)</u> purchased their home at 1502 South Ventura Drive in March 2014.
 CP 229-30, 279-80. Their home was originally one story constructed in part over a basement. *Id.* The addition of a second story to their home is the subject of this litigation.

51441374.1 -7-

- Mark Lewington (Plaintiff-Respondent) owns property located uphill and across the street to the east of the Parsons, which he purchased in April 2012. CP 363. Mr. Lewington's predecessors-in-interest had owned the property since 1971 and were members of the Lester class action. CP 285, 334, 365.
- <u>Elizabeth Wight (Plaintiff-Respondent)</u> owns property immediately next door to the Parsons to the south. She lived there at the time of the *Lester* litigation. *See* CP 330. Her west-facing views of the Puget Sound and Olympic Mountains are not impacted by the Parsons' residence, regardless of the addition. CP 233 (¶ 17), 264-71.
- The Ostlunds (Plaintiffs-Respondents) own property across the street from the Parsons and next door to Mr. Lewington.

 The Ostlunds acquired their property from Signa Simkins, who owned the property at the time of the *Lester* litigation.

 See CP 328, 334.
- The Shillitos (Plaintiffs-Respondents) own property located downhill and to the north of the Parsons' home. The Shillitos' property is not located within the Narrowmoor Third Addition, but rather within the neighboring

Narrowmoor Second Addition. CP 120. Their views are not impacted by the Parsons' residence, regardless of the addition. CP 233 (¶ 17), 264-71.

B. The Narrowmoor Covenants.

The Narrowmoor area of Tacoma's West End (also known as part of the West Slope) was developed in four additions, called Narrowmoor First, Second, Third, and Fourth Addition, respectively. *See* CP 145-157. These subdivisions were approved between 1944 and 1955. *Id.*

On the face of each plat, Eivind Anderson recorded various covenants to apply to all properties within each subdivision. *Id.* These covenants are largely identical across the four subdivisions. *Id.* Central to this litigation is Covenant A of the Narrowmoor Third Addition:

Except as otherwise herein specifically stated, no structure shall be erected, placed or permitted to remain on any residential building plat other than one detached single family dwelling not to exceed *two stories in height*, and a private garage.

CP 236 (emphasis added). Also relevant is Covenant D, which prohibits tall growing trees that would obstruct the panoramic view of the Puget Sound, but only as to properties west of Fairview Drive. *Id.*

C. The Tacoma Building Code When The Covenants Were Drafted Defined When A Basement Is A "Story."

Although the drafter of the Narrowmoor covenants did not elaborate on his intended meaning of "stories in height," the

contemporaneous building code illuminates this issue and shows what a builder constructing a home at the time would have referenced.

The operative City of Tacoma Building Code when the Narrowmoor Third Addition covenants were drafted in 1947 was Ordinance No. 11689, passed by the Tacoma City Council in 1939. CP 283-84, 288-91. The 1939 Building Code directly addresses the issue of when a basement or cellar constitutes a story, providing a straightforward method of calculation:

Story means that portion of a building included between the upper surface of any floor and the upper surface of the floor next above, except that the topmost story shall be that portion of a building included between the upper surface of the topmost floor and the ceiling or roof above. If the finished floor level directly above a basement or cellar is more than six feet (6') above grade such basement or cellar shall be considered a story.

CP 291 (italics added); *see also* CP 290 (defining "basement" and "grade"). Thus, if the floor level directly above a basement is less than 6 feet above grade, the basement is not a "story" under the code.

D. <u>In Lester v. Willardsen</u>, This Court Determined That Daylight Basements Do Not Qualify As "Stories In Height" Under The Narrowmoor Covenant.

Nearly 30 years ago, a class of Narrowmoor Third Addition homeowners litigated this very issue against another property owner in the subdivision. Those homeowner plaintiffs asserted the same argument advanced by the plaintiffs here—that the covenant drafter intended to

include daylight basements as a "story in height." This Court rejected their interpretation.

Lester v. Willardsen was filed as a putative class action in Pierce County Superior Court in 1985. CP 284 (\P 3). Aside from separate claims asserted against the City of Tacoma, the plaintiff homeowners sought to enjoin construction of a second story on the Willardsens' home, which had a daylight basement. CP 294-95 (\P 1.2, 1.4), 298 (\P 6.2), 300-01 (\P 10.1, 10.2, 12.1). Just as in this case, the *Lester* plaintiffs characterized the Willardsens' second story addition as a "third story." *See*, e.g., CP 294 (\P 1.4).

1. A Class Was Certified For All Narrowmoor Third Addition Property Owners.

In December 1985, the superior court certified the case as a class action for all owners of real property located within the Narrowmoor Third Addition. CP 315-18. One of the essential purposes of proceeding as a class action was to protect the rights of future owners, as stated in a declaration submitted in support of certifying the class: "[F]uture owners of such property deserve representation. It is impossible to join as plaintiffs such unknown future owners." CP 312. Additionally, the representative plaintiffs were concerned about the risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications as to Narrowmoor Third property owners. CP 313.

51441374.1 -11-

All Narrowmoor Third Addition properties were included in the class unless their owners specifically opted out, and they were all specifically advised that they would be bound by the judgment whether favorable or unfavorable. CP 323. Class counsel provided notice of the class action to Narrowmoor Third Addition property owners in January 1986. CP 332-36.

2. The Plaintiffs Or Their Predecessors Received Notice Of The *Lester* Litigation.

All of the plaintiffs in the present case or their predecessors-ininterest received notice of the *Lester* lawsuit and an opportunity to opt out, except for the Shillitos, whose property is not in the Narrowmoor Third Addition. CP 120, 332-36.

Plaintiff Lewington purchased his property in 2012 from the estate of Rosemary Moore, who had lived there since 1971. CP 363, 365. Ms. Moore's husband, Donald Moore, received notice of the class action and was a member of the *Lester* class. CP 285, 334.

Plaintiff Wight also received notice of the class action, but expressly declined to participate in the lawsuit, which she referred to as "frivolous." CP 330. In fact, Ms. Wight was adamant regarding her and her husband's "firm desire that we would have nothing AT ALL to do with this suit." *Id.* (emphasis in original).

51441374.1 -12-

Finally, Mr. and Ms. Ostlunds' predecessor-in-interest, Signa Simkins, received notice and declined to participate in the class action lawsuit to enforce the covenant. CP 328, 334.

Neither Ms. Wight nor the Ostlunds' predecessor, Ms. Simkins, filed their own lawsuits to enforce the covenant against the Willardsens or any of the other Narrowmoor properties that do not comply with the plaintiffs' interpretation of the covenant. *See* CP 232-33, 282, 285.

3. This Court Held As A Matter Of Law That A Daylight Basement Is Not A "Story In Height" Under The Narrowmoor Covenant.

The *Lester* case was ultimately heard by this Court on appeal. The primary issue was identified as "whether a basement constitutes a story." App'x B at 2. This Court rejected the class plaintiffs' assertion that a daylight basement was a "story in height" under the Narrowmoor Third Addition covenant, holding that "there is no support for a finding that the drafters intended a daylight basement to constitute a story." *Id.* at 4. The Court further ruled that there was "no evidence that the offending home exceeded the height it would have attained had it been constructed as a conventional two-story house with the first story constructed at ground level." *Id.* The Washington Supreme Court denied review. *Lester v. Willardsen*, 116 Wn.2d 1004 (1991).

51441374.1 -13-

E. The Parsons Purchase Their Home And Plan To Construct A Low-Profile Second Story.

Nearly twenty-five years later, in March 2014, the Parsons purchased their one-story home with a basement in the Narrowmoor Third Addition. CP 229-30, 279-80. Prior to closing, they spent significant time with an architect and the City of Tacoma's planning department to ensure compliance with all land use and zoning regulations in anticipation of renovating the existing house to add the low-profile second story. CP 230, 280, 383.

The Parsons' addition is primarily an extension of the existing house to the northeast. CP 231, 383. This extension is two stories on top of a foundation wall and footings. *Id.* The bottom story of the extension is primarily a garage, while the upper story is the Parsons' bedroom. *Id.* Only a small portion of the addition is above the footprint of the preexisting building—also the most subterranean portion of the basement. *Id.* The majority of the addition is located directly on foundation, with no basement beneath it. *Id.* The Parsons' addition also incorporates a low-profile roof that minimizes view impacts. *Id.* All told, the height of the Parsons' new roofline is 4.62 feet above the height of their old roof. *Id.* The renovated home complies with the local 25-foot zoning height limitation and was approved by the City of Tacoma. *Id.*

51441374 1 -14-

The Parsons' remodel has minimal view impacts on the plaintiffs' neighboring houses, as illustrated by Mr. Parsons's testimony and the various exhibits attached to his declaration. CP 233, 264-71. While the two uphill plaintiffs, Mr. Lewington and the Ostlunds, also submitted photographs allegedly showing their damaged views, the portions they complained of are not located above the Parsons' existing basement. *See, e.g.*, CP 551-53. Instead, their photographs show a two-story building on ground level. *Id.* Indeed, had the Parsons chosen to demolish the existing home and rebuild on a concrete slab, they could have built to the same height specifications without any basement at all. CP 233.

When the Parsons were planning their remodel, they did not even contemplate that someone might consider their basement to be a "story in height" under the Narrowmoor covenant. CP 230, 280. To them, the common sense reading of the covenant was that it applied to above-ground floors. *Id.*; *see also* CP 383 (architect's opinion). This belief was reinforced by the Parsons' experience touring the Narrowmoor neighborhoods. They saw numerous homes with greater height profiles than the home they were contemplating building, including several multistory homes with basements. CP 230-31, 280. Examples of such houses were submitted to the court with Mr. Parsons's declaration. CP 238-62.

F. The Parsons Were Up Front With Their Neighbors Regarding Their Remodel Plans.

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