FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2015 MAY 26 PM 1: 30

No. 47022-5-II STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPUT'

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARK C. LEWINGTON, a Washington Resident; NOEL P. SHILLITO and LAURIE A. SHILLITO, Husband and Wife and Washington Residents; DANIEL P. OSTLUND and MARIE F. OSTLUND, Husband and Wife and Washington Residents; and ELIZABETH T. WIGHT, a Washington Resident,

Respondents,

v.

FRANK I. PARSONS and NANCY A. PARSONS, Husband and Wife and Washington Residents,

Appellants.

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

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

and fair opportunity to participate in the earlier proceeding; and (3) collateral estoppel would not work an injustice on that party. *Christensen v. Grant County Hosp. Dist. No. 1*, 152 Wn.2d 299, 307, 96 P.3d 957 (2004). None of these requisite factors are satisfied here. This case does not present the same issues or the same parties as *Lester v. Willardsen*, Court of Appeals No. 12172-7-II, and binding parties who did not participate in that case would cause a grave injustice. Moreover, a new rule of law for interpreting Restrictive Covenants has evolved since *Lester v. Willardsen* that changes the outcome. At a minimum, the Plaintiffs who were not parties or in privity with parties to *Lester v. Willardsen* are entitled to enforce Covenant A under the current rule of law.

#### 1. Different Issue.

This case arises in an entirely different context than the earlier case of Lester v. Willardsen. At issue in our case is construction of a three-story home on a downhill lot where it blocks Neighbors' views. While at issue in Lester v. Willardsen was the construction of a three-story home on an uphill lot in the uppermost terrace of properties in the Narrowmoor Third Addition, where it would not impact views.

Unlike the Parsons' property, the Willardsens' property backed on Jackson Ave., a busy arterial street. Therefore, there were no uphill neighbors whose views would be affected by the offending third story.

The facts of our case are very different. At issue here is the construction of a three-story home on a *downhill* lot, where the height and bulk of its third story will directly impact the panoramic views of uphill neighbors. CP 176-183, 400-404 (Ex B-D). Because the Parsons' home blocks panoramic views of uphill Neighbors the issue of interpreting Covenant A arises in an entirely different context here than in *Lester v. Willardsen*.

The fact that no uphill neighbors' views were impacted by the Willardsens' third story was clearly pivotal to the Court of Appeals' decision in *Lester v. Willardsen*, as shown in Footnote No. 1. There, the Court of Appeals specifically stated that:

The offending home, as modified, is located on the topmost street (Jackson) of the Addition. Consequently, it does not obstruct the view from any lot in the Addition.

CP 351 (Lester v. Willardsen, Court of Appeals No. 12172-7-II, p. 4, n. 1 (emphasis added)). The issue of protecting views was not evident in the extreme *uphill* location where Lester v. Willardsen arose, leading the Court of Appeals to overrule the lower Court.

The lower Court had similarly struggled with the view-protection issue, and noted that the *uphill* location of the Willardsens' home would not block any of Narrowmoor's panoramic views:

The Willardsen residence, while it violates the two story restrictive covenant, blocks no panoramic view within Narrowmoor Third Addition.

CP 427 (*Lester v. Willardsen*, Pierce County Superior Ct. No. 85-2-04120-3 (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, p. 5)) (emphasis added).<sup>3</sup>

Nevertheless, because the lower Court found that the meaning of Covenant A's two-story height limit was clear and unambiguous, and that the Willardsens' home clearly exceeded two stories, it ordered injunctive relief to have the offending story removed.

The Willardsen residence violates the covenant in question, as it is more than two stories in height. The Court finds that the covenant is clear and unambiguous. The Court need not characterize the lowest floor of the Willardsen home as a "basement" or as a "story" in order to interpret and apply these covenants. The topmost floor of the Willardsen residence is conceded to be a story. Similarly, the main floor at the Jackson Street grade is also conceded to be a story. Therefore, the lowest level of the home, which in fact contributes to the height, causes the residence to be in excess of two stories....

Id. (emphasis added).

Both the lower Court and the Court of Appeals in Lester v. Willardsen were clearly troubled by enforcing a view-protection mechanism in an *uphill* location where the upper story of the Willardsens' home would not affect the views from other properties. The Court of Appeals found a way out of this dilemma under the rules of law in effect

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> We note that the Decisions of both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals in *Lester v. Willardsen* were unpublished. While we are mindful that GR 14.1(a) precludes citation to unpublished opinions, since the Appellants' Brief discusses the reasoning behind the Appellate Court Decision we have cited the underlying Superior Court Decision as well, for context.

at that time. Finding no evidence that the Willardsen home actually blocked any of Narrowmoor's panoramic views, the Court of Appeals applied a pre-Riss v. Angel strict construction approach to Covenant interpretation and reversed the lower Court's decision.

The Narrowmoor Community understood that the uphill location was pivotal to the outcome of *Lester v. Willardsen*, as evidenced by the fact that in the twenty-five years since that case was decided they have continued to implement Covenant A's two-story height limit to include basement stories on downhill lots. CP 421-422. The Community has never allowed a story violation on a downhill lot in Narrowmoor Third. *Id.* Since the issue here is not *identical* to the issue presented in *Lester v. Willardsen*, collateral estoppel does not apply.

#### 2. Different Parties.

None of the Plaintiffs in this case were parties to the Lester v. Willardsen case. Only one of the Plaintiffs, Mark Lewington, is arguably in privity with a predecessor-in-interest who was a member of the class from Lester v. Willardsen. The Parsons acknowledge that neither the Shillitos, nor Ms. Wight, nor the Ostlunds' predecessor-in-interest Ms. Simkins were parties to the Lester v. Willardsen case. In fact, the Parsons produced waivers documenting that Elizabeth Wight and the Ostlunds' predecessors-in-interest expressly opted out of the class. CP 328, 330.

Therefore, these Plaintiffs, at a minimum, are not bound by the *Lester v. Willardsen* decision. On the contrary, it would be a grave injustice to bind these Plaintiffs to a decision in a case where they expressly opted out.

Because the offending stories in *Lester v. Willardsen* did not affect the views of *uphill* neighbors, there was not the same impetus for members of the Community to participate in the suit. *Lester v. Willardsen* did not provide a full and fair hearing of the story issue in a *downhill* location where it would block the views of uphill neighbors. Therefore, collateral estoppel does not apply

#### 3. Manifest Injustice.

Despite having found written waivers from Elizabeth Wight and the Ostlunds' predecessors-in-interest expressly opting out of the *Lester v. Willardsen* case, the Defendants argue that they should none-the-less be bound by that Decision. This is inherently unfair. Under the Defendants' reasoning, there would have been no effective way for any resident of Narrowmoor Third to opt out of the *Lester v. Willardsen* litigation. This reasoning directly contradicts the written notices that the residents were provided at the time. Collateral estoppel *cannot* be asserted against Ms. Wight, the Ostlunds or the Shillitos. These Plaintiffs, at a minimum, must be allowed their day in Court, particularly since the rule of law for interpreting restrictive covenants has changed since *Lester v. Willardsen* 

was decided such that this case is likely to yield a different result.

The Lester v. Willardsen case was decided twenty-five years before the Washington State Supreme Court announced the paradigm shift in Riss v. Angel, which requires Courts to reach an interpretation that protects the collective interests of the community. Consequently, the Willardsen Court applied the old strict construction approach to interpreting Restrictive Covenants that has since been overruled. Restrictive Covenants are no longer interpreted according to a strict construction approach that favors the free use of land. That strict construction approach was set aside by the Riss Court, which announced a new paradigm for interpreting Restrictive Covenants in a manner that protects the collective interests of the community. Riss v. Angel, 131 Wn.2d at 623. Applying this new rule of law, the Superior Court correctly determined that stories must be interpreted to include daylight basements, as this is the manner in which the Community has implemented Covenant A on the ground from Eivind Anderson's time to this day.

The Lester v. Willardsen case was also decided before the Bauman Court ruled that the definitions appropriate for interpreting Restrictive Covenants are those in effect at the time the Covenants were drafted and that give effect to the Covenant's purpose. Bauman v. Turpen, 139 Wn. App. at 88-89. In Lester v. Willardsen, the Court used a 1969 definition to

interpret the term "story," instead of a definition from 1948 when Mr. Anderson drafted the Restrictive Covenants. As discussed above, at that time Tacoma's Zoning Code defined stories to include daylight basements.

In sum, since the issue in this case arises in a completely different context, collateral estoppel does not apply. At a minimum, the Plaintiffs who were not parties to the *Willardsen* Decision must be given their day in Court to interpret Covenant A under the correct rules of law announced in *Riss v. Angel* and *Bauman v. Turpen*, etc., particularly since the outcome of the case would be different under these new rules of law.

# D. No Acquiescence - Covenant A's Two-Story Height Limit Substantially Enforced.

The Superior Court found no acquiescence to defeat the enforceability of Covenant A. Covenant A has been enforced across the substantial portion of Narrowmoor Third.

The fact that *Lester v. Willardsen* concerned a lot on the uppermost tier of Narrowmoor Third, without any uphill neighbors whose views could be impacted, explains why some members of the Community – including Ms. Wight and Ms. Simkins (the Ostlunds' predecessor-ininterest) – opted out of the litigation. There was simply not the same impetus to enforce Covenant A on that uphill lot as there would have been on a downhill lot. In that extreme uphill location, on the uppermost periphery of Narrowmoor Third along Jackson Ave., the offending story simply did not have the same impact on the Neighborhood as it would

have had on a downhill lot. After *Lester v. Willardsen* was decided, there was even less reason for members of the Community to bring enforcement actions to avoid two other story violations on similarly situated properties, at 1505 S. Fairview and 7501 S. Sunray Dr.,<sup>4</sup> as the outcome of additional enforcement actions on uphill lots would presumably have been the same. Like the Willardsen home, both of these homes are located in the topmost terrace of lots at the extreme *uphill* periphery along Jackson Ave.

These three violations on *uphill* lots, however, do not signal acquiescence with regard to the two-story height limitation on *downhill* lots in Narrowmoor Third. The continued record of compliance with the two-story height limitation over the twenty-five years since *Lester v. Willardsen* demonstrates that the Narrowmoor Third Community has always understood that the extreme *uphill* Covenant-perimeter location of the Willardsens' home was key to the Appellate Court decision in *Lester v. Willardsen*. Even after that case was decided the Narrowmoor Third Community continued to interpret and implement the Restrictive Covenants' two-story height limit to include basement stories with regard to *downhill* lots where taller homes would impact views. There has *never* been a violation of the two-story height limit on a *downhill* lot in Narrowmoor Third. CP 160-161, 421.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> We note that the other alleged violations identified by the Defendants below are located in other Additions or on Blocks where other Restrictive Covenants apply. The home at 7511 S. 19<sup>th</sup> Street is incompliance with the Narrowmoor Third Restrictive Covenants even though it may include an additional half-story. This home is located within Block 13 of Narrowmoor Third, where Covenant H expressly states separate Covenants apply. Those Block 13 Covenants allow for larger structures. *See* CP 160-161, 421.

Moreover, only *substantial* violations constitute acquiescence. The Brief of Appellants *incorrectly* cites *Tindolph v. Schoenfeld Bros., Inc.*, 157 Wn. 605, 610, 289 P. 53 (1930), for the proposition that just a "slight degree" of acquiescence can defeat Restrictive Covenants. That is *not* correct. The actual rule of law from *Tindolph v. Schoenfeld* and the earlier case of *Ronberg v. Smith*, 132 Wn. 345, 232 P.283 (1925) is that a "substantial" degree of acquiescence can defeat Restrictive Covenants. "Where a *substantial* part of the property has been improved in violation of Restrictive Covenants . . ., equity will not permit a plaintiff to enforce the restrictions against one who is building in further violation of such restrictions." *Tindolph v. Schoenfeld*, 157 Wn. at 610 (citing the rule of law from *Ronberg v. Smith*, 132 Wn. at 350 (emphasis added).

The quote on page 35 of the Brief of Appellants is from the discussion of early American and English cases surveyed in *Ronberg v. Smith*, 132 Wn. at 354 (discussing *Ocean City Association v. Chalfant*, 65 N.J. Eq. 156, 55 A. 801, 1 Ann. Cas. 601; citing Roper v. Williams, 37 Eng. Rep. (Ch. Book 17) 999; 1 Turn. & Russ. 18, written by Lord Eldon in 1822; and Peek v. Matthews, L. R. 3 Eq. 515; and quoting High on Injunctions (4th Ed.) § 1159). Following this discussion, the *Tindolph* Court applied the actual rule of law from *Ronberg*, finding the Restrictive Covenants at issue were violated by a *substantial* number of the platted properties – twenty-five percent – which defeated the enforceability of the Restrictive Covenants. *Tindolph v. Schoenfeld*, 157 Wn. at 611-612.

The Tindolph Court considered twenty-five percent to be a

"substantial" degree of acquiescence, which rendered the Restrictive Covenant at issue there unenforceable. In contrast, in Narrowmoor Third only three story violations have ever occurred, and never on a downhill lot where they could block the views of uphill neighbors. CP 160-161, 421. Three out of eighty-five homes in Narrowmoor Third (outside of Block 13 where Special Covenants apply) simply is not a "substantial" number.

# E. No Abandonment – Covenant A's Two-Story Height Limit Habitually and Substantially Maintained.

The Superior Court found no abandonment to defeat the enforceability of Covenant A. Since *Tindolph v. Schoenfeld* was decided in 1930, the Washington State Supreme Court confirmed in *Mount Baker v. Colcock* that Restrictive Covenants are only deemed abandoned when they are "habitually and substantially" violated. *Mount Baker Park Club, Inc. v. Colcock*, 45 Wn.2d 467, 275 P.2d 733 (1954). The Court further explained that a few violations do *not* constitute abandonment and will not defeat the enforceability of covenants. *Id.* In this case, for sixty-six years the Narrowmoor Third Community vigilantly enforced Covenant A's two-story height limit. CP 160-161.

Contrary to the Parsons' assertions, only three story violations have ever occurred in Narrowmoor Third, all on the top terrace of through lots on the uphill periphery of Narrowmoor Third, *never* on a downhill lot. CP 160-161, 421. Most of the story violations cited by the Parsons

occurred in Additions or Blocks that are subject to other Covenants than the Restrictive Covenants for Narrowmoor Third. With only known three story violations actually in Narrowmoor Third, it cannot be said here that Covenant A's height limit has been habitually and substantially violated.

Applying the current rule of law from *Mount Baker v. Colcock*, the Court ruled in *Sandy Point Improvement Co. v. Huber*, 26 Wn. App. 317, 613 P.2d 160 (Div. I 1980) that two covenant violations did not constitute abandonment; and the Court ruled in *Reading v. Keller*, 67 Wn.2d 86, 406 P.2d 634 (1965) that one covenant violation did not constitute abandonment. Only when violations are so *habitual and substantial* to give the impression that restrictive covenants are not followed, are they deemed abandoned. *Mount Baker v. Colcock*, 45 Wn.2d at 471-472; *Green v. Normandy Park*, 137 Wn. App. 665, 697, 151 P.3d 1038 (Div. 1 2007); *White v. Wilhelm*, 34 Wn. App. 763, 665 P.2d 407 (Div. I 1983). That simply cannot be said of Covenant A's two-story rule, which - with just three exceptions on the uppermost tier of lots - has been honored by the Narrowmoor Third Community for sixty-six years. CP 160-161, 421.

# F. The Superior Court did not Need to Reach the Issue of the Shillitos' Standing.

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